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Preface


This book tells the story, from the point of view of the British Expeditionary Force (BEF), of the campaign in France and Flanders in 1940 that led to the evacuation from Dunkirk. It does not quite end there, for the British Army also participated in the fighting south of the Somme, a campaign almost unknown to most British readers. This was followed by yet another evacuation of nearly 150,000 British soldiers of what was sometimes called the ‘Second BEF’.


The story of the saving of the BEF at Dunkirk has been told often, perhaps too often in the context of ‘the dithering of Hitler and the immortal exploits of the “little ships”’ – to quote Brian Bond, a distinguished historian of the period. Less well known is the narrative of continuous hard fighting experienced by the main body of the BEF in the three weeks between the German invasion of France on 10 May 1940 and the end of the evacuation from Dunkirk on 4 June. When I mentioned that I was writing a book about the campaign to a field marshal, a distinguished veteran of the Second World War (but not of Dunkirk), his reaction was that there was plenty to say about the actual evacuation. He added, ‘But the trouble is that the BEF did so little fighting before the evacuation.’ The implication was that there was little to say on the subject. It has been my purpose to show that not only did the BEF have to fight hard, it had to do so while carrying out that most difficult phase of war, a withdrawal while in contact with a ruthless enemy. Many armies in history have found retreat more than they can handle and have disintegrated before surrendering, or have been cut to pieces with huge loss. The former was the fate of both of Britain’s allies in this campaign.


The BEF of 1940 was not the best-trained or best-equipped army that has left our shores to fight overseas. Years of political dithering had seen to that. It was certainly nothing like as well trained as the superb German Army, throughout the Second World War perhaps one of the finest fighting organizations the world has ever seen. Viewed overall the BEF in 1940 lacked that difficult-to-define flair that marks out brilliant soldiers from plain practitioners of the art. Or put another way they were not ‘quick enough on the draw’ tactically speaking. Of course there were exceptions – some individuals and units showed this flair – but it did not run through the whole force like a common thread. This comes only with training and good leadership. The BEF did not have enough time to train. It was not the fault of the soldiers, and the reasons for it are made plain in this book.


But, despite that, the BEF gave the Germans a testing run for their money, and this is made clear in the German assessment of the British soldier as a ‘fighter of high value’, in the report quoted in my final chapter. How much more challenging it would have been for the Germans had the BEF been better equipped and trained. It is hard to fault much of the leadership of the BEF – some of it was outstanding, as the reader will discover. From the ashes of the 1940 campaign in France and Flanders emerged many of the successful senior commanders in the British Army in the Second World War, starting with the man who would be the Chief of the Imperial General Staff from 1941 to the end of the war, Field Marshal Sir Alan Brooke (later Viscount Alanbrooke). The others include, and the list is not exhaustive, future army commanders Montgomery, Alexander, McCreery and Dempsey; corps commanders Lumsden, Horrocks, Ritchie (who briefly commanded Eighth Army) and Crocker; and divisional commanders Adair, Rennie and Whistler. These officers proved themselves in moments of the utmost danger in 1940, which would have broken lesser men, and sometimes did.


The soldiers they led were indomitable and were no different from their predecessors, in the words of Field Marshal Wavell writing of an earlier war, ‘whose humorous endurance of time and chance lasts always to the end’. Of course there were instances where discipline broke down, of cowardice and of failure, but in the main these were a tiny minority. The manner in which they fought earned the respect of their opponents, which could not be said of their French and Belgian allies. It cannot be said too often that the retreat was not caused by failure on the part of the BEF; it was the consequence of their allies on either flank losing the battle. But in the end for the BEF it was a retreat to victory like that at Corunna in Spain in 1809 or Burma in 1942. Throughout, the soldiers of the BEF thought of themselves as better than their opponents, and this bloody-minded conceit sustained them in the darkest moments.


This is their story.




1


TWENTY WASTED YEARS




History provides many examples of a British Army being asked to operate under appalling handicaps by the politicians responsible for British policy, but I doubted that the British Army had ever found itself in a graver position than that in which the governments of the last twenty years had placed it.


Major General Noël Mason-MacFarlane briefing the press, 15 May 19401




At 1334 hours on 3 June 1940, Admiral Jean Abrial, the French commander of the Dunkirk area, was ordered by the French high command to leave and embark for England. The British evacuation, less some of the more seriously wounded in hospitals and dressing stations, was complete. In peacetime Dunkirk was a busy commercial port; now chaos reigned in the town. The beaches were under German artillery fire, while French soldiers, sailors and civilians looted the burning buildings. British destroyers waited until darkness before heading for the moles to take off the French rearguard. Vice Admiral Bertram Ramsay, the Flag Officer Dover, asked that ‘in return for the British effort on behalf of the French Army’ the maximum number of British wounded should be included in the evacuation.


At about 2200 hours, Abrial burned his codes and embarked but, reluctant to leave his command, remained off the port and beaches until 0200 hours the next morning, before his ship steamed for Dover. Meanwhile all night crowds of weary men boarded a miscellany of craft including tugs, pleasure craft, cross-Channel ferries, launches, motor-boats and destroyers that came alongside the moles at Dunkirk. At first light, on the orders of General Barthélemy, commanding the Flanders fortified sector, the French 68th Infantry Division that had been holding ground to the south-west of Dunkirk disengaged and withdrew to the port. Few of the division got away: a flood of deserters from the First, Seventh and Ninth French Armies, who had hidden in the town, emerged and blocked the route of Barthélemy’s rearguard to the last ships. In desperation, some officers sent their men to the dunes in the hope of eventually finding ships off the beaches.


That morning the Germans entered Dunkirk to find the moles and approaches packed with enemy soldiers. For miles along the beaches lay a trail of military impedimenta: steel helmets, guns, trucks, small arms of all descriptions, boots and clothing, gas masks, wireless sets – and the bodies of men caught in the open on the beaches, killed in the fighting to hold the perimeter, or washed in by the tide from ships and vessels bombed and machine-gunned by the Luftwaffe. Off the beaches the wreckage of all manner of vessels protruded above the surface of the sea, or lay like stranded whales at low tide, their hulls and decks littered with dead French and British soldiers.


Before the French commanders surrendered to the Germans at the Hôtel de Ville, they signalled General Weygand, the French Supreme Commander, that nothing more could be done, adding that ‘Admiral Abrial considers the operation of the English [sic] this night magnificent’. Admiral Darlan, the French Chief of the Naval Staff, signalled his thanks to the British Admiralty and to Admiral Ramsay. Nearly half as many French troops as British had been evacuated, but thousands more were marched off to Germany as prisoners. Perhaps some of them overheard the remark made by an unknown German officer: ‘Where are the Tommies? Tommies gone and you here. You crazy?’ The recriminations that ensued among the Allies were bitter, stoked among others by the Anglophobes Darlan and Marshal Philippe Pétain, the latter soon to be the head of the French government.


The arguments last to this day, and can be traced back to a misalignment of French and British perceptions about the situation as the Battle of France unfolded in May 1940. For the French government, believing that the war was lost, with their army totally defeated and heading for destruction, a successful military outcome was unimaginable. They wanted the British to fight long enough in northern France, and eventually at Dunkirk, to buy time for both France and Britain to obtain an acceptable peace for both nations. The French did not articulate this desire, they merely hinted at it, hoping that this was what the British would do. The British had no intention of falling in with this vague and probably fruitless concept; they had an escape route and would take it, to live to fight another day. Brigadier Swayne, head of the British Military Mission to General Georges, commander of the French North-East Front, remarked: ‘We who live in a small island regard the sea as a high road. For the French it is the limit of their country. To take to the sea would be to abandon their country and would be disgraceful.’ To the British the evacuation at Dunkirk was a ‘miracle’; to the French it was desertion. How did it come about?


*


The words of General Mason-MacFarlane quoted at the head of this chapter provide part of the clue to the situation in which the British found themselves in May and June 1940. Although often forgotten now, it was not until February 1939, only seven months before the outbreak of the Second World War, that the British government decided to commit a small part of the army to the continent in the event of German aggression in the west. This field force was to consist of four regular infantry divisions, the first two to arrive in their assembly area in France thirty days after mobilization. It was smaller than the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) of 1914, less well trained and lacking much essential equipment.


Britain had ended the First World War twenty years earlier with the best-trained, best-equipped and best-commanded army in her history. In the space of three months in the autumn of 1918, this army had fought and won a series of battles, each bigger than any in which it was to engage in the Second World War. By November 1918, the British Army had soundly defeated the German Army, taking more prisoners and guns than the French and American armies put together. No other army was in the same league. This was to change as the years passed. With the ‘war to end all wars’ won, Britain rapidly disarmed, while others talked about it and did nothing, or – like Germany – having disarmed, secretly rearmed. Starting in 1918, successive British governments assumed that there would be no major war for ten years, and from 1928, as each year passed, the assumed decade of peace was moved forward with it. The armed services were reduced, and for thirteen years these small forces were kept starved of equipment. In March 1932, seeing that others had not followed this example, leaving Britain dangerously weak, the government abandoned the ten-year policy and a policy of rearmament was discussed, though little was actually done.




One would have lingering wars with little cost;


Another would fly swift, but wanteth wings;


A third thinks, without expense at all,


By guileful fair words peace may be obtain’d.2




In January 1933 Hitler became German Chancellor. The following year the British finally decided on a measure of rearmament, but by 1936, when Hitler’s troops reoccupied the Rhineland in breach of the 1925 Locarno Treaty, there was little to show for it. By then Italy and Germany had formed the Axis alliance and were beginning to build large armies, while Japan – which joined the Axis a year later – was spending 46 per cent of her national income on armaments. In April 1938 London concluded that in the event of war with Germany the British contribution to the Allied response should be provided mainly by naval and air forces. A large army would not be sent to the continent of Europe; instead its role would be confined to defending the United Kingdom and her overseas territories. So priority in the way of equipment for the army was given to anti-aircraft guns and coastal batteries. The five divisions of the field force trained and were fitted out for imperial defence, not for continental warfare against a first-class enemy. The Territorial Army (TA) was to be supplied only with training equipment. This was the state to which successive governments had reduced the British Army.


This army had been the first to use the tank in battle, in September 1916. After the First World War two men, Captain Basil Liddell Hart and Major General J. F. C. Fuller, preached that the future lay in massed formations of fast tanks, supported by mobile self-propelled artillery and infantry carried in tracked armoured vehicles. Instead of hammering away at a wide sector of front, as in 1914–18, the armoured formations would exploit a weak spot in the enemy defences and pour through in what Liddell Hart and Fuller called an ‘expanding torrent’, to attack vital points in the enemy’s rear and paralyse him. In 1926, the British Army set up an experimental mechanized force to practise and develop these theories of armoured warfare. But two years later the conservative element within the army disbanded the force. Mechanization was eventually carried out but far too late for the whole army to assimilate the changed tactics that might have brought success in the ensuing campaign in France and Flanders in 1940.


Once the British government woke up to the dangerous situation that faced the country thanks to the failure to rearm, the Royal Navy and the Royal Air Force were rapidly, if belatedly, re-equipped (not always with the happiest results, but that is outside the scope of this book). The tasks envisaged for the Royal Navy did not impinge on operations ashore in France and Flanders in 1940. The role assigned to the RAF most certainly did. The 1938 re-armament programme called for a greatly expanded RAF capable of defending Britain and mounting bombing offensives against Germany. There was no provision for support of land operations that would have meant sending a large, mobile air force overseas. Although a proportion of the RAF’s bombers might be stationed forward in France to decrease the range to German targets, these were expressly not in support of ground operations. The RAF had stoutly defended its independent existence since its creation in April 1918, and preached a doctrine called the indivisibility of air power. In essence, the RAF would decide where and how air power would be exerted. Simply expressed, the RAF’s thinking was ‘We will win the war on our own, and certainly will not waste our time supporting you brown jobs’ – or, if addressing the Royal Navy, ‘you blue jobs’.3


Rearmament in Britain was boosted by the aftermath of the Munich meeting in the autumn of 1938, when it became apparent that despite the appeasement of Hitler by the British Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlain, peace was not at hand. The snag with rapid rearmament is that putting it into effect is considerably more difficult and time-consuming than deciding to go ahead with it. This is especially true if, as was the case with Britain, the armaments industry had been allowed to run down. Factories have to be geared up for a hugely increased rate of production, while new workshops may have to be built to augment existing ones that could not cope with the expanded output required. Weapons and equipment that are still in the trial stage of development, or even just a gleam in the eye of the inventor, may need further trials before production in quantity can begin. Finally soldiers have to be trained to use and maintain the new equipment. But it does not end there. Introducing a new gun into service usually involves designing and manufacturing a new type of ammunition. So yet more plant is required, and a workforce trained to operate it. Equipment needs spares to ensure that it is kept serviceable. These have to be manufactured too, sometimes in vast quantities. Rearming on a large scale involved placing orders abroad to supplement British production, or even to manufacture every piece, from complete equipments to spares. As in 1914–18, the bulk of these orders went to the United States. The British government should have been well aware of all the hurdles that had to be overcome in the great rearmament catch-up effort. Britain had undergone exactly the same experience in the First World War only twenty years earlier. There were plenty of people around in senior government posts who could remember this, and there was no excuse for being caught out a second time.


In February 1939, in addition to committing the army to deploying in France, and therefore to a war for which it was not equipped or trained, the British government doubled the size of the TA to 340,000, creating twelve new infantry divisions with supporting arms – thus compounding the problem the country already faced in the race to rearm. If that was not enough, a limited form of conscription was introduced. The conscripts needed equipment on which to train too.


Events now speeded up. On 14 March 1939, German troops invaded what had been left of Czechoslovakia after the dismemberment of the country at Munich the previous year. On 29 March, six months before the outbreak of war, Anglo-French staff talks began. The French made clear that the defence of their own territory was their first priority in the event of invasion by Germany. When this had been secured, they intended remaining on the defensive until they had built up sufficient resources for a counter-offensive, while at the same time maintaining an economic blockade of Germany. The British had no difficulty in agreeing this strategy; indeed, since their contribution was so small, they could hardly do otherwise. At this stage in the talks the British revealed that there would be a gap of eleven months between the arrival in France of the first two divisions and the advent of the second two. The build-up for the counter-offensive would, the Allies agreed, be a matter of years not months, given that there was so much ground to make up in terms of equipment and manpower. They had to assume that they could force a stalemate on the Germans and ensure a repetition of the static warfare on the Western Front of most of the years 1914–18. This assumption was made despite the advances in warfare and equipment since 1918, especially in tanks and aircraft. It was a strategy based on the hope that the enemy would do what suited the Allies.


As the weeks went by, the British were able to tell the French that their proposed contribution was a general headquarters and two corps, each of two regular divisions, and an air component of the RAF. When the French Commander-in-Chief, General Gamelin, visited London in June 1939, he was told that the first two divisions of the British field force would now be able to arrive nineteen days after mobilization, and the whole of the rest of the regular contingent of the BEF in thirty-four days. British follow-up forces would consist of one armoured division, which would be available in early 1940, followed by another much later. As the TA divisions became ready for overseas service between four and six months hence, they too would be made available.


The French would have eighty-four to eighty-six divisions, of which twelve would be needed to guard the Italian frontier. So seventy-two to seventy-four would be available to garrison the Maginot Line, and to stem the German offensive wherever this took place. Along with the four British divisions the Allies could muster at minimum seventy-six divisions. Germany would be able to field 116 divisions. It was assumed that the Germans would attack Poland first, and that it was unlikely that France would be attacked until Poland was defeated. The Germans, having the initiative, would be able to deploy their greater strength at their main point of effort, whereas the Allies would be forced to cover the whole 500 miles of front from Switzerland to the North Sea until the Germans showed their hand.


The Germans also outnumbered the Allies in the air. At this stage, with four months to go before war broke out, the Germans could muster a total of 3,700 aircraft of all types against the Allied total of 2,634. If Italy came into the war she would bring another 1,400 aircraft into the battle.


Staff talks were not held with Belgium or Holland. Both countries hoped that their neutrality would protect them from invasion. The Belgians believed that any staff talks with France and Britain would give the Germans the excuse to attack them when the time came to invade France. The Belgians had failed to learn the lessons of history: neutrality in 1914 had not deterred the Germans from attacking them when it suited them to do so as part of their attempt to outflank the French Army. Holland, having managed to retain its neutrality in the First World War, imagined that it could do likewise in any subsequent conflict.


In the months before war broke out, in an atmosphere of growing menace, Britain introduced full conscription, and partially mobilized the Fleet and the Royal Air Force.


*


On 1 September 1939 Germany invaded Poland after bombing her airfields without warning. Britain ordered full mobilization and, honouring her undertaking to come to Poland’s assistance if she were attacked, sent an ultimatum to Germany timed to expire on 3 September. The Germans did not respond and, at 11.00 that morning, the Second World War began.


The British government made two other important decisions that day. The first was to appoint General the Viscount Lord Gort as Commander-in-Chief of the BEF. Gort, who was then fifty-three years old, was a highly decorated Grenadier Guardsman who had served with distinction in the First World War, eventually commanding in turn the 4th and 1st Battalions of his regiment and briefly 3rd Guards Brigade. He had been wounded four times, mentioned in despatches on nine occasions and awarded the Military Cross, the Distinguished Service Order with two bars and the Victoria Cross. A man of great personal and moral courage, he was not suited to high command and had been promoted well above his ceiling. It would be hard to better the description of his character by that very great soldier, then Lieutenant General Alan Brooke, commanding II Corps in the BEF, whose diary entry for 21 November 1939 reads: ‘Gort’s brain has lately been compared to that of a glorified boy scout! Perhaps unkind but there is a great deal of truth in it.’4 On 22 November 1939 his criticism is more measured:




Gort is queer mixture [sic], perfectly charming, very definite personality, full of vitality, energy and joie de vivre, and gifted with great powers of leadership. But he just fails to see the big picture and is continually returning to those trivial details that counted a lot when commanding a battalion, but which should not be the concern of a Commander-in-Chief.5




The second decision was to determine how Gort should conduct British operations in France. The British government placed him under the orders of General Georges, commanding the French North-East Theatre of Operations. Gort was told, ‘You will carry out loyally any instructions issued by him.’ He had the right of appeal to his own government if at any time an order given by Georges appeared to imperil the BEF. Gort was also told that, if General Georges wished to detach part of the BEF for operations elsewhere, such an arrangement should only be temporary.


As the Second World War began less than twenty-one years after the end of the First, there were plenty of officers in the British Army with a wealth of fighting experience. Thanks to the slow pace of promotion in peacetime, men who had fought the Germans in the previous contest could be found down to the rank of major. The commanders of I and II Corps were both older than Gort, and had been senior to him before his sudden and unexpected elevation to C-in-C of the BEF. Lieutenant General Sir John Dill of I Corps, who was five years older, had risen in the First World War to be a Brigadier General Staff (BGS) under Haig, and had been a key planner of Haig’s final and highly successful offensives in the autumn of 1918. Lieutenant General Alan Brooke of II Corps was three years older than Gort, had a keen brain and was to prove the star corps commander in the BEF.


One of the youngest divisional commanders, at forty-seven, was Major General the Hon. Harold Alexander, commanding the 1st Division in I Corps, lately of the Irish Guards, having commanded a battalion of that regiment at the age of twenty-five in France in the First World War. Always immaculately turned out, nothing ever seemed to worry him. Major General Bernard Montgomery, commanding the 3rd Division in II Corps, was nearly fifty-two years old, and had already crossed swords with Gort when chief instructor at the Staff College at Quetta in what was then India. Gort, director of training on the staff of C-in-C India, had taken exception to Montgomery’s self-assertive instructional style. Montgomery never left anyone, however senior, in any doubt about what he thought of them. Brooke was one of the few people of whom he was in awe, and if anything his admiration for him increased as the war progressed. Brigadiers, colonels and lieutenant colonels with fine fighting records in the First World War were plentiful in the 1939–40 BEF. Some would go on to high command later in the war. Others would fade out of the picture.


The transportation of the BEF to France by the Merchant Navy, escorted by the Royal Navy, took place without the loss of a single life. The main ports through which the BEF landed were Cherbourg, Nantes and Saint-Nazaire in western France, the Channel ports through which the 1914–18 BEF had disembarked being deemed too vulnerable to air attack. The two corps of the BEF were deployed hundreds of miles to the east near the Belgian border and took over French positions between Maulde and Armentières, with French First Army on the right and French Seventh Army on the left. This was only the start. As the months passed, the build-up of the BEF continued, until a third corps was operational. By early May 1940, the BEF had grown from four divisions in two corps to ten divisions in three corps. The corps commanders were: I Corps, Lieutenant General M. G. H. Barker, who had taken over from Lieutenant General Sir John Dill on his appointment as Vice Chief of the Imperial General Staff (VCIGS); II Corps, Lieutenant General A. F. Brooke; and III Corps, Lieutenant General Sir Ronald Adam Bt. Meanwhile everybody waited for Hitler to begin his assault in the west, having carved up Poland in less than a month with his new ally the Soviet Union.


The German Army had used the opportunity of sending ‘volunteers’ to fight on Franco’s side in the Spanish Civil War of 1936–9 to practise some of its techniques and theories. But, much more important, the war in Poland provided an excellent live-firing rehearsal for what was to follow in France six months later. The Germans learned a number of useful lessons, and were able to hone their procedures for employing battle groups, infantry–tank co-operation tactics, and the use of aircraft to provide intimate support for ground formations, as well as the necessary liaison and communications to orchestrate the modern all-arms battle.


The British were more up to date than the Germans in just one aspect, that of mechanization or motorization. The BEF that went to France in 1939 was a totally mechanized army. Like the German and French armies it had tanks, but in addition every infantry battalion had ten small open-topped tracked vehicles called Bren-gun carriers designed to provide some mobile protected firepower for the troops. Specially designed motorized vehicles towed all the BEF’s guns, and all its supplies were carried in trucks, as were some of the troops. Cars, small vans and motorcycles were provided for commanders, for liaison and for carrying messages. On the outbreak of war, many of these vehicles were requisitioned from civilian firms. Like most other British formations, Major General Montgomery’s 3rd Division went to war with laundry and bakers’ vans. None of these commandeered vehicles were really suitable for military use – they were often underpowered and because they did not have four-wheel drive were almost useless across country – but they were better than nothing.


The German Army on the other hand had many horsed formations and units, and persevered with them until the end of the war in 1945. Indeed, the vast majority of formations were not mechanized. Infantry divisions marched on foot, and although each had some 942 motor vehicles, the bulk of their supplies was carried in horse-drawn wagons, 1,200 per division. In addition horse-drawn artillery hugely outnumbered motor-towed pieces. Slow-moving horse-drawn transport should be allocated dedicated roads to avoid blocking the route for its motorized counterpart, but this was not always possible, and the resulting traffic jams sometimes impeded the progress of the army as a whole. Horses consume bulky fodder – yet another unwelcome problem for the logisticians. This horse–motor mix created a quartermaster’s nightmare and was to contribute to the failure of the German campaign in Russia that was launched in 1941. Tactically there were two German armies: one fast and mobile, the other slow and plodding. This Achilles heel in the mighty German war machine was to be amply demonstrated in 1940. Only operational and tactical ineptness, principally on the part of the French, prevented the Allies from exploiting this fundamental weakness in the German way of making war.


The French pinned their defence hopes on the Maginot Line, named after the War Minister from 1929 to 1932 who as Sergeant Maginot had been wounded at Verdun early in the First World War. A great deal of the fighting at Verdun in the eleven-month battle of 1916, in which Maginot did not participate, had taken place in and around forts and concrete strongpoints on vital ground defending the city. Paradoxically, before the First World War, the French had scorned the concept of fighting from fortresses, opting instead for aggressive tactics out in the open, attacking the enemy with infantry and light guns regardless of casualties. During the Verdun fighting of 1916, the nature of the terrain and the determination of the French not to cede an inch of ground brought home to them just how important the fortress system was. Loss of some of the key forts nearly cost them the battle. That experience and the terrible losses the French had incurred in the First World War, not only at Verdun but also in numerous engagements both before and after that bloodletting, persuaded them that fortresses and artillery were the answer in any future war. In effect they fell into the age-old trap of planning to fight the next war on the basis of the last one. In 1921, Marshal Pétain, then Supreme Commander, set the scene for the French Army’s doctrine on the use of armour, saying, ‘Tanks assist the advance of the infantry, by breaking static obstacles and active resistance put up by the enemy.’6 This was not the last time that Pétain, the saviour of Verdun, was to have a baleful influence on his country.


Constructed between 1930 and 1935, and extending from Luxembourg in the north to the Swiss border in the south, the Maginot Line was not really a line, but a string of concrete forts built about three miles apart, interspersed by smaller casemates. Both types were well buried, with only observation cupolas and gun turrets visible, and even these in many cases could be lowered flush with the roof. Advanced warning posts, anti-tank obstacles, wire and mines screened the forts. The garrisons varied from twelve to thirty men in the casemates, and from 200 to 1,200 in the forts. The latter were like underground villages, with barracks, kitchens, generators, magazines and even electric railways to transport men and ammunition from barrack and magazine to the gun positions. Casemates contained machine guns and one 47mm anti-tank gun, with heavy artillery in the forts.


Belgium was still an ally of France while the Maginot Line was under construction and so extending the line to cover the 250 miles of the Franco-Belgian border was considered tactless, as it would send a signal of no confidence in Belgium’s capability to resist invasion, and would isolate her on the ‘wrong’ side of the wall. An added disincentive to extending the line was the expense. The eighty-seven miles completed by 1935 had cost 4,000 million francs in excess of the 3,000 million allocated in the budget. Finally, an extension of the line would run through the heavily industrialized region of Lille–Valenciennes on the Belgian border, causing major disruption to French industry. Experience in the First World War had persuaded the French that, if they were to avoid losing this northern industrial region, they would have to stop the invader before he crossed the French frontier. So when Belgium elected for a policy of strict neutrality, the French realized that they would have to enter Belgian territory from the west the moment the Germans invaded it from the east. In this event, instead of fighting from behind the concrete and steel of the Maginot Line on which so much treasure had been spent, the French would be forced to engage in a mobile battle of encounter in open country, a contest for which they were neither mentally prepared nor organized.


The French aimed to fight a methodical battle under a system of rigid centralization and adherence to orders from the top. Unit and formation commanders were supposed to remain at their command posts – the theory being that here, at the centre of communications, they were best placed to receive information and orchestrate the battle. This of course begged the question what one should do if the communications did not work. It was a question that demanded an answer, but the French failed to provide one, and it was a key ingredient in their defeat. For there were few radios in French units and formations, and communication was mainly by messengers or by telephone, using either the civilian system or lines laid by the military. Initiative in subordinate commanders at whatever level was frowned upon. No one was trained to react to the unexpected, and therefore how to work through the chaos. The French doctrine ignored the German commander Helmuth von Moltke’s dictum that ‘no plan of operations will ever extend, with any sort of certainty, beyond the first encounter with the hostile main force’, and that success in battle was, and still is, gained by the commander’s ability ‘to recognize the changed situation, to order its foreseeable course and to execute this energetically’.


French planning envisaged that as soon as the enemy attacked he was to be stopped by concentrated artillery fire and static defence, rather than by counter-attack. Local reserves would be placed in front of enemy penetrations to slow him down and eventually stop him. Meanwhile local superiority of men and equipment would be assembled, and then, and only then, would counter-attacks be mounted. The armour would not be employed in mass, but in penny packets accompanying the infantry as mobile pillboxes. Even had the communications worked, this rigid, pedestrian operational concept was hardly the best way to fight a mobile enemy. Once the two-way flow of communications was slowed by enemy interdiction, or even brought to a complete standstill, commanders sitting in their command posts would be completely out of touch and unable to influence events.


The German system was totally the opposite, and stressed personal initiative and what modern soldiers call mission command. Subordinates were told what their superior’s mission was, and were expected to adapt their plans and the execution of them to achieve it, and to exploit a changing situation to their advantage, while their superiors supported them with all the means at their disposal. Everybody was trained to command at least one if not two levels above their own, and therefore able to take over when superiors became casualties. The leaders of Nazi Germany knew that their country was not well placed economically to fight a long war, but instead had to win swiftly. Thus was born the principle of lightning war, Blitzkrieg, which, following Moltke’s teachings, demanded flexibility and the will to win. The German Army was adept at combining mass and aggressive tactics, and in achieving this the commander’s mental alertness and drive were essential factors, for the force of his personality affected the whole of his command.


The Germans often used a tactic that today we would call recce pull. Armoured battle groups preceded by reconnaissance would find, or lever open, the weak spots in the enemy defence and, using radio communications, ‘pull’ the main force through behind them; if necessary the main force would switch its axis on to the new line. This is the opposite of everybody bashing forward in a set-piece attack supported by a mass of artillery, only to come up against a rock-like defence. The success of mission command and recce pull depended not only on commanders being well forward where they could ‘read’ the battle, but also on their being in a position to communicate the necessary orders to take account of the changing situation, either face to face with subordinates or by radio. The German system demanded good secure radio communications, and they had them. In addition, German commanders were able to call upon support from their air force, not least dive-bombers that they used in lieu of artillery, particularly if they had advanced beyond the range of their guns. In this way the Germans fought a true all-arms battle, with infantry, armour, artillery and air. Their armour and mechanized infantry were concentrated in elite armoured (panzer) formations, with tanks used in mass.


For the Germans had taken note of British writings and experimentation on armour. Above all, Captain Heinz Guderian, who in the First World War had been on the staff of the German Crown Prince at Verdun, had become convinced that any future war should be fought very differently. He studied the works of Liddell Hart and Fuller and saw the importance of armoured formations, with tanks taking the leading role, not just as adjuncts to infantry. By 1931 he was commanding a motorized battalion equipped with dummy tanks – all that Germany was allowed under the terms of the 1919 Treaty of Versailles. He kept abreast of experiments by Brigadier Hobart’s British 1st Tank Brigade on Salisbury Plain in 1934 by employing a local tutor to translate the articles Liddell Hart wrote reporting these exercises. The following year Guderian published a book, Achtung – Panzer!, which analysed the successes and failures of the Allied use of tanks during the First World War – the Germans having used tanks only fitfully during that war, and those mainly captured Allied ones. He concluded that what was needed was a fast-moving, medium ‘breakthrough’ tank, not a heavy infantry-support tank of the kind fielded by the French Army. Hitler’s accession to power saw Guderian’s theories turned into reality, and by 1935 he was commanding the 2nd Panzer Division. The first pamphlets issued to the new panzer divisions were based on British Army manuals on the use of armour, not on the French equivalent, because of the rigidity of the latter’s doctrine on the relationship between armour and infantry. Achtung – Panzer! was never translated into French or English, nor was it studied at staff colleges or by the general staffs of either country, although it foretold precisely how Guderian would carry out the breakthrough at Sedan in 1940.


At this point it might be helpful to lay to rest some of the myths about the relative strengths and types of armour on both sides. The ultimate German success has been ascribed to superiority in the numbers and types of equipment, especially tanks. The French possessed some 4,000 armoured fighting vehicles of all types. Of these around 2,000 were fit for modern warfare. A good proportion of these modern tanks were the S-35s (known as Somuas from the initials of the maker). This was one of the best tanks in service in the world, with a 47mm turret-mounted gun. The French also had some slower but more heavily armoured Char B1s, with a hull-mounted short-barrelled 75mm gun, and a 47mm in the turret. The Somuas were grouped in three light mechanized divisions (divisions légères méchaniques – DLMs), very like the German light divisions in that they comprised motorized infantry with a powerful tank element. The excellent Somua medium tank was more heavily armoured, as fast as any contemporary German tank and, except for the Panzer Kampfwagen Mk IV, had a heavier gun. The Char B1s were grouped in three armoured divisions (divisions cuirassées). These had only recently formed and had undergone little or no collective training. A DLM had 220 tanks compared with only 150 in a division cuirassée. The DLMs were allocated to separate armies, and the divisions cuirassées to the reserve: one to the general reserve and two to the reserves of the French First Army Group in the centre, and deployed piecemeal.


The Germans had 2,539 tanks at their disposal when they started their offensive in the west, but of these 1,478 were obsolete Mk Is and Mk IIs, whose main armament consisted only of machine guns or 20mm cannon. The only battle-worthy tanks were 349 Mk IIIs with a 37mm gun main armament, 334 Czech tanks also with 37mm guns, and 278 Mk IVs, which in 1940 had a short-barrelled 75mm and were intended as a close-support tank for the Mk IIIs. The Mk IVs were not upgunned until later in the war. So the French outnumbered the Germans in battle-worthy tanks.


The British fielded three types of tank: the light Mk VI with one .303in and one .55in machine gun; three Marks of cruiser tank each with a 2-pounder main armament; and two Marks of infantry tank. The Mk I infantry tank had a .303in machine gun, and the far heavier Mk II or Matilda had a 2-pounder and a .303 machine gun. One of the legacies of the preaching by Liddell Hart and Fuller on the subject of armoured warfare was that the British went to war with these three types of tanks: light tanks for reconnaissance; with cruiser tanks grouped in armoured divisions, highly mobile but weak in firepower; and infantry tanks suitable only for infantry support. The correct answer, which took the British most of the war to arrive at, was a medium or main battle tank, combining firepower, protection and mobility in one type of tank. For technical reasons this was a difficult balancing act, but it was one which the Germans achieved long before the British. The tanks produced by the British were undergunned and, except for the Matildas, lacked armoured protection. Wedded to the 2-pounder gun, the British built tanks with turret rings far too small to accept any bigger-calibre guns. The 2-pounder was too small calibre to produce an effective high-explosive (HE) round, and fired only solid shot, which was useless against infantry and bunkers. Dual-capability and larger-calibre tank guns did not feature in the British inventory until the American tanks arrived (Lee-Grants and Shermans).


One of Liddell Hart’s notions of future warfare, propounded in the inter-war period, was of ‘fleets’ of fast tanks, like ships at sea, roaming the area behind the enemy lines causing so much mayhem, especially by destroying his communications and headquarters, that the enemy was unable to continue the contest. Hence the British term ‘cruiser’ tank, following Liddell Hart’s nautical analogy. This happy state of affairs could, so Liddell Hart predicted, be achieved at a low cost in casualties, provided the correct tactical formulae were applied. Unfortunately, Liddell Hart’s theories of the ‘indirect approach’ (not attacking the enemy at his strongest point but finding a way round, or attacking a vital point in the rear), and the vision he dreamed up of ‘fleets’ of tanks swanning about, begged a number of questions: how did one break through the enemy in order to burst out into the open country beyond without a tough fight, especially if there were no open flanks; and what if the enemy was equally agile and mobile but reacted correctly, that is with a force of all arms, artillery, anti-tank guns, infantry and air? The British were to learn that armour must be accompanied by infantry (to deal with the enemy infantry, especially if equipped with anti-tank weapons) and by artillery (to destroy anti-tank guns, or at least neutralize them by killing and wounding their crews or by forcing them to keep their heads down in the interests of survival).


The French Army either had not read Liddell Hart or, in typically Gallic fashion, deemed any idea, military or otherwise, that had not originated in France as unworthy of a second thought. Whatever the reason, as mentioned earlier, the French also arrived at a flawed concept for the use of armour.


Almost all tanks, British, French and German, were vulnerable to all the types of artillery employed by either side. The exceptions were the British infantry tanks and the Char B1, which were so heavily armoured they were proof against the German 37mm gun, although not against heavier guns. As the Battle of France was to show, as were later encounters in North Africa, tanks could be destroyed by 2-pounders, 75mm and 18-pounder field artillery, 105mm howitzers, 3.7in mountain guns, 25-pounder guns, and of course the 88mm anti-aircraft guns, provided that all these guns were firing using direct laying (pointing directly at the tank, not being fired from a position out of sight, directed by a spotter).


No Second World War tank could withstand a direct hit by a medium artillery shell, a 155mm or 5.5in gun. Tanks caught in artillery concentrations that included medium shells, even if not hit directly, could be set on fire, have tracks blown off and turrets jammed by shell splinters. Artillery fire could severely punish infantry and towed artillery accompanying armoured attacks, blow off radio aerials from tanks, and force commanders to shut down inside their turrets, which restricted their vision. Most commanders liked to move and fight with their heads out of the top of the turret, and the more thrusting ones would sit on the rim of the hatch to get the best view possible. Well-sited and resolutely handled field artillery batteries could repel a tank attack – a technique that the British practised before the war. The British 25-pounder was provided with an anti-tank sight, and when in action with its wheels on the round metal platform with which it was eventually fitted could be trained round quickly to a flank. The French 75mm field gun had been specifically designed to fire direct, which reduced its capability as a field gun, but made it a first-class anti-tank gun. In short, tanks often achieved their effect by appearing to be all-powerful, but they could be stopped.


It is sometimes forgotten that Hitler was not averse to building fixed defences, but for a rather different reason from that favoured by France. In the Rhineland, he constructed a line of concrete forts opposite the Maginot Line, known as the West Wall or Siegfried Line. In 1936, Churchill predicted how the Germans would use this line, which because of its intrinsic strength could be held by fewer troops than defences consisting of trenches, to release sufficient troops to ‘swing round through Belgium and Holland’. The Siegfried Line would deter France and Britain from rendering aid to their eastern allies, first Czechoslovakia and subsequently Poland. Hitler could dispose of his enemies in the east at his leisure, before turning on the French with his rear secure.


In November 1939 Allied planners, expecting the Germans to outflank the Maginot Line and attack through Belgium, came up with what was known as Plan D. This called for the French 1st Army Group under General Billotte and the BEF to rush into Belgium and create stop lines to slow down and eventually halt the Germans in accordance with current French tactical principles. This would, it was hoped, buy time to build up reserves for a counter-attack. The stop lines were based on river courses, particularly the Escaut (Scheldt to the Belgians) and the Dyle. The Dyle, further east than the Escaut, was where the initial stop line would be established – hence Plan D for Dyle being preferred to Plan E for Escaut. The Belgians were fully aware of the plan but, clinging to their neutrality, would allow only a few British officers in plain clothes to carry out reconnaissance.


The command arrangements were entirely of French design, the French being senior partner in the forthcoming campaign in France and Flanders by virtue of their overwhelming superiority in numbers over their British allies. The Supreme Commander, the sixty-eight-year-old General Maurice Gamelin, had no radio contact with the commanders in the field. He gave orders by messenger from his headquarters in the Château de Vincennes outside Paris. It would be misleading to imagine Gamelin as an earlier version of Eisenhower, the Supreme Commander of the Allied Expeditionary Force that fought in north-west Europe in 1944–5. Unlike Eisenhower, Gamelin did not have a staff of Allied officers working together to produce a common and agreed strategy. Instead a military mission under Major General Sir Richard Howard-Vyse was appointed to Gamelin’s headquarters to represent the British Chief of the Imperial General Staff (CIGS); this was known as the Howard-Vyse Mission. Furthermore there was no Anglo-French equivalent to the Anglo-American Combined Chiefs of Staff, introduced after America came into the war at the end of 1941, to which Eisenhower as Supreme Allied Commander reported. Gamelin reported to the French government, and the British Chiefs of Staff effectively had no influence whatever over his decisions, other than representations by the Howard-Vyse Mission or personal visits by CIGS.


The outline command structure is shown in Appendix A. In addition to his responsibilities for the defence of France against German attack, Gamelin also commanded French troops in the Alps (facing Italy), Syria and North Africa. His deputy General Georges commanded the North-East Front, stretching from Switzerland to the Channel. Georges had three army groups under him, of which Billotte’s French 1st Army Group was earmarked for operations in Belgium. This army group consisted of three French armies and with it, but directly under command of Georges, would go the BEF. Also directly under Georges was the French Seventh Army, which had an independent role operating behind and to the left of the Belgians at Antwerp to cover their left flank and also, if possible, to link them to the Dutch. It was a complicated and muddled set-up, with the BEF and French Seventh Army out on Billotte’s flank, and having to co-ordinate their activities with his, which given the French paucity of communications was not going to be easy. A mission under Brigadier J. G. de R. Swayne (known as the Swayne Mission) was sent to Georges’ headquarters to represent Gort.


At the outbreak of war, the German offensive was under way in the east, carving up Poland. Poland’s allies France and Britain did almost nothing, despite Gamelin having assured the Poles in May 1939 that immediately war broke out the French Army would take the offensive against Germany, and that by the fifteenth day after mobilization it would throw in the majority of its forces. The so-called Saar Offensive that Gamelin authorized in September was a pathetic affair. The trumpeting in the British press of a major attack on the Siegfried Line, and stories of secret 70-ton French tanks crashing through German lines, turned out to be eyewash. No more than nine divisions took part in the Saar operation. They were ordered not to advance beyond the outposts of the Siegfried Line, and to avoid casualties at all costs. Apart from taking some abandoned villages, the French gains were negligible. Not one German formation was diverted from Poland. When Poland capitulated, Gamelin ordered a withdrawal to the Maginot Line. When the Germans obligingly allowed the French to retreat unscathed, Gamelin sighed with relief.


The Germans were amazed and relieved. They had expected a full-blooded assault. The Siegfried Line was nothing like as strong as the Maginot Line, and was anyway not complete. As the frontier from Aachen to Switzerland was held by only twenty-five reserve divisions, with not one tank, and with sufficient ammunition for only three days’ fighting, many German generals assessed that the French would be on the Rhine within fourteen days, and might even have won the war by then. Neutral observers noted how low morale was in Berlin, ‘facing war with something approaching abject terror’, in the words of Joseph Hersch, Berlin editor of the Christian Science Monitor. They were convinced that Hitler’s bluff was about to be called at last; but they were wrong again. So began a period known as the Phoney War. During the Saar Offensive the morale of French soldiers had been high, but it sagged when this was called off. Arthur Koestler was an intellectual who fled Germany and was temporarily interned by the French as a suspicious alien in October 1939. He witnessed the French attitude first-hand:




We talked to many of the soldiers. They were sick of the war before it started . . . they wanted to go home and did not care a bean for Dantzig and the Corridor . . . They rather liked La France, but they did not actually love her; they rather disliked Hitler for all the unrest he created, but they did not actually hate him. The only thing they really hated was the idea of war.7




Danzig was created a free city on the Baltic by the Treaty of Versailles in 1919, the aim being to give the Poles access to the sea through the territory called the Polish corridor. The city’s population was overwhelmingly German and this played an important part in Hitler’s case for going to war with Poland.


As the months of the Phoney War passed with no German attack, some British formations were sent to help man the French sector in the area of the Maginot Line. When it came to the 4th Division’s turn, Lieutenant James Hill, a platoon commander in the 2nd Battalion Royal Fusiliers, spent Christmas 1939 in the ligne de contact (contact line) forward of the Maginot Line. It was bitterly cold that winter, and the forward companies lived in trenches dug by the French. The ground was covered by snow and one could see almost as well by night as by day. The nearest Germans were about four miles away. In the event of a heavy attack, the troops in the contact line would withdraw to the Maginot Line. Hill remembers that British troops manning the contact line were taken round the Maginot Line and were very impressed by what they saw.


The Germans patrolled, as did the British, in section strength (eight soldiers led by a non-commissioned officer), in the hope of capturing a prisoner. Hill did not seize any prisoners, but another company in the 2nd Royal Fusiliers managed to bag a couple. The French were not as aggressive as their opponents or their allies – in Hill’s opinion, they did not want to stir things up. Winston Churchill, then First Lord of the Admiralty, commented:




The prevailing atmosphere of calm aloofness often struck visitors to the French front, by the seemingly poor quality of the work in hand, by the lack of visible activity of any kind. The emptiness of the roads behind the line was in great contrast to the continual coming and going which extended for miles behind the British sector.8




Frenchmen also noted that their troops were occupied growing roses to pretty up the Maginot Line and painting the steps white, and that they seemed to have plenty of time for football instead of training.


Second Lieutenant Peter Martin, serving in the 2nd Battalion the Cheshire Regiment, a machine-gun battalion in Barker’s I Corps, also had a low opinion of the French soldiers he came across. Martin had joined his battalion just before war broke out, but to his chagrin was not allowed to accompany them to France. He was deemed too young, the lower age limit for deployment on war service being nineteen and a half in those days. Having completed a machine-gun course, and still desperate to get to France, he was ordered to the Regimental Depot. There he learned from the adjutant that anyone who made advances to the niece of the depot commanding officer got sent out straight away. So he made advances, which was not a chore as she was pretty and charming. Within three weeks he was on his way, joining his battalion in the Lille area. A machine-gun battalion had forty-eight Vickers medium machine guns. Martin took over number 7 platoon, consisting of two sections, each of two guns. In his own words he ‘was raw and useless. I had some wonderful sergeants who “carried” me. The Platoon Sergeant really took charge. The soldiers were wonderful – if they liked you they “carried” you, if they didn’t, they ditched you.’


More senior British officers were also less than satisfied with what they saw of the French during the long months of the Phoney War. The commander of II Corps, Lieutenant General Alan Brooke, who had a fine First World War record, noted in his diary a visit to the Maginot Line on 20 December 1939. It is important to remember that these were his opinions at the time and were not written with the wisdom of hindsight: ‘It gave me but little feeling of security, and I consider that the French would have done better to invest the money in the shape of mobile defences such as more and better aircraft and more heavy armoured divisions than to sink all this money into the ground.’9


Subsequent trips to the line did nothing to alter Brooke’s view that the money could have been better spent. After inspecting the forts in the line, he went to visit 12th Infantry Brigade, which included Hill’s battalion:




We first went to the Black Watch [6th Battalion] in the ‘Ligne de Recueil’ [literally Line of Collection, a French expression referring to the line to which the outposts retire when pushed back by an attack], some 3,000 yards in front of the Maginot Line. This line has no defence and a rotten anti-tank ditch. From there we went up to the PWV [Prince of Wales’s Volunteers – 1st Battalion the South Lancashire Regiment] holding the outpost line some 6,000 yards further forward. A line with no power of resistance, a few isolated posts far apart and only lightly wired in. German patrols penetrate right in behind our posts at dusk and at night. A no-man’s land of some 1,500 to 2,000 yards exists between ill-defined fronts. But practically no activity on either side, a certain amount of shelling was going on either side and an air battle in the afternoon, otherwise absolute peace. The defence does not inspire me with confidence.10




Nor did the French soldiers he saw impress Brooke: ‘French slovenliness, dirtyness [sic] and inefficiency are I think worse than ever.’11 After attending a service to commemorate the Armistice that ended the First World War, he stood alongside General Corap, commanding French Ninth Army, to take the salute:




I can still see those troops now. Seldom have I seen anything more slovenly and badly turned out. Men unshaven, horses ungroomed, clothes and saddlery that did not fit, vehicles dirty, and complete lack of pride in themselves or their units. What shook me most was the look on the men’s faces, disgruntled and insubordinate looks, and although ordered to give ‘eyes left’, hardly a man bothered to do so.12




Brooke was no Francophobe. He had been born in France and had spent his early years there, loved the country, and spoke French before he learned to speak English. He had visited Verdun in 1916, during the time of France’s greatest trial, and had come away deeply imbued with the lionhearted spirit of the French soldier and the people. What he saw now devastated him.


He was just as critical of the state of training of the BEF, although not of its spirit, writing in his diary on 1 November that his corps still needed months of training before it could be considered fit for war.13 After visiting the 4th Battalion The Gordon Highlanders on 26 November, he observed, ‘It is totally unfit for war in every respect and it will take at least 2 months to render it fit. It would be sheer massacre to commit it to action in its present state in addition to endangering the lives of others.’14


The lamentable state of training of the BEF was of course a direct result of the way the British Army had been starved of funds by successive governments for twenty years. For example it was commonplace on pre-war field exercises to find flags representing anti-tank guns and football rattles taking the place of machine guns. Restrictions on the use of land resulted in exercises that lacked realism. Therefore when Brooke’s II Corps arrived in France, having been promised a much needed period of intensive training, only to be told by Gort to take over part of the French defensive positions south of Lille, he was extremely put out. In this as in other matters Gort was deficient as a commander. During the whole eight months of the Phoney War, he did nothing to prepare the BEF headquarters for war, not once conducting a signals, command-post or movement exercise. An army, like any other military unit or formation, is the creation of and reflects its commander. Gort failed to give the lead required to ensure that his army used the precious time available to put right all the many deficiencies in training that had piled up in the locust years of the 1920s and 1930s. Brooke was the only senior commander who did prepare for the time ahead; taking his cue from him, Major General Bernard Montgomery, commanding the 3rd Division, did so too. Montgomery wrote later that ‘in September 1939, the British Army was totally unfit to fight a first class war on the Continent of Europe’. The other division in II Corps, the 4th, was not so well trained, and curiously Brooke did not sack the divisional commander. Montgomery trained his division rigorously, practising it in moving by day and night over similar distances that it would encounter during the advance into Belgium when the balloon went up. His exercises were designed to shake down his division into a fighting team so that it would hold together under the shock of battle and the chaos it brings in its train. For a collection of soldiers, however well trained in individual skills, does not make a unit or formation – it is the articulation of the whole that counts.


Training was not helped by the French insistence on radio silence, which severely limited the scope of command-post exercises that are so important in achieving the cohesion without which an army cannot exert its full fighting power. This ridiculous ruling by the French was not such a hindrance to training at battalion level as it would be today; in the British Army at that stage in the war there were no radios from battalion headquarters to companies, and on down to platoons and sections. Communication forward of battalion was by telephone, motorcycle despatch rider or runner. Lack of radios was to prove a considerable disadvantage in the war of movement that would actually take place, as opposed to the slow pace of most operations in the previous war.


The British regular divisions had a foundation of discipline, skill at arms and tactical proficiency that could serve as a basis for improving standards of training, and they used the long months of the Phoney War to do just that. The territorial divisions, lacking this grounding, and having been sent to France much later than the regular formations, found it more difficult to improve and become battle-worthy. The general level of toughness and training was patchy throughout the BEF. To remedy this would have taken a far higher standard of strong leadership from the very top, based on an up-to-date doctrine of tactics and operational-level skills promulgated BEF-wide, than Gort and some of his formation commanders provided.


One of the problems encountered by the BEF during this period was the rising incidence of VD. This is hardly surprising. Brothels flourished in all the major towns and larger villages. Most of these were an eye-opener to young British soldiers brought up in what by today’s standards were somewhat straitlaced circumstances. Girls and pin-ups in the modest bathing costumes of the time were commonplace, but going topless in public wearing just a thong as today’s girls often do was unknown. So the reactions of young men like Bombardier Harding on going into a brothel for the first time are not surprising. ‘We’d never seen anything like it. Girls with long black hair down their backs, wearing just G-strings and high-heeled shoes. The G-strings disappeared leaving just their bottoms showing. You couldn’t help yourself really. You couldn’t get up the stairs fast enough.’


Montgomery’s solution was to demand that the troops be educated and to insist that the subject of sex and disease was not buried under a blanket of sanctimoniousness. He issued an order on the subject, requiring that condoms be on sale in the NAAFI canteen and that the men be taught the French for ‘French letter’, in case they wanted to buy one in a shop. Outraged, the senior chaplain at General Headquarters demanded that Gort take action. Gort was minded to sack Montgomery, but Brooke persuaded him against the idea.


Captain White, the adjutant of the 1st/6th East Surreys, a TA battalion in the 4th Division, also under Brooke, recorded that their newly arrived commanding officer got into trouble when he bought up all the condoms in town and distributed them to the battalion free of charge. The padres were incensed, believing that he was encouraging the men to sin. They seemed oblivious to the outcome of the CO’s initiative: the 1st/6th East Surreys had virtually no cases of VD, in contrast to most other units in the 4th Division.


Although morale in the BEF never approached the depths reached by the French, many units and formations succumbed to the boredom of the Phoney War, with the result that their preparations were lackadaisical. This air of unreality also affected some of the top civilians too. The British Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlain, visited the 3rd Division just before Christmas 1939 and whispered to Montgomery, ‘I don’t think the Germans have any intention of attacking us, do you?’15 Montgomery replied that the Germans would attack when it suited them, probably when the weather improved.


On 10 January 1940 Major Helmuth Reinberger, serving on a German airborne planning staff, flew in a light aircraft to Cologne, carrying with him a briefcase containing top-secret documents. The pilot got disorientated in bad visibility, and then his engine cut out, obliging him to perform a forced landing. To his horror he found himself just inside Belgian territory. Reinberger tried to burn his maps and papers, but only partially succeeded before they were taken from him by a Belgian captain who, accompanied by troops, arrived hotfoot at the crash scene.


The papers were soon at Belgian GHQ and, although badly scorched, were sufficiently legible to reveal that the Germans intended to invade France via Belgium and Holland. The Dutch and French were duly informed. The French Army, in a state of high alert, closed up to the Belgian frontier in appalling weather. The Belgian frontier barriers were raised, and for a moment it looked as if the Belgians were going to invite the Allies in. But King Leopold, whose naivety had led to Belgian neutrality in the first place, rescinded the order, dismissing his chief of staff. By 15 January the flap died down. Spurred on by sight of the German plans, Gamelin strengthened the force that would go into Belgium in the event of a German invasion. Now instead of ten French divisions and the BEF, thirty would go in, among them the best the French Army could offer: two out of France’s three new armoured divisions, five out of seven motorized divisions, and all three DLMs.


On the extreme left flank was to be deployed General Giraud’s Seventh Army of seven first-class divisions, including one DLM. Until Gamelin made these changes, the Seventh Army was to have constituted the major part of General Georges’ operational reserve. Gamelin’s decision to commit it in Belgium from the outset was to have dire consequences. On Giraud’s right would be Gort’s BEF, positioned on the Dyle from four miles north of Louvain to Wavre. South of the BEF would come Blanchard’s First Army, tasked with holding the Gembloux Gap down to Namur on the Meuse. Corap’s Ninth Army was to occupy the line of the Meuse in the Belgian Ardennes south of Namur. General Huntziger’s Second Army would deploy from Sedan to Longwy and the start of the Maginot Line.


Thus the main striking power of the French Army was to be committed to operations in Belgium north of Namur. This, as we shall see, was exactly what Hitler wanted. For years after the Second World War the French believed that the forced landing by Reinberger had been a ‘cunning German plan’. It was nothing of the kind.
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INTO BELGIUM: FIRST SHOCKS


‘Hitler has missed the bus,’ claimed Chamberlain in a speech on 4 April 1940, at the Central Hall in Westminster. Five days later the Germans occupied Denmark and began the invasion of Norway. The story of the ill-starred Allied campaign in Norway in response to the German invasion has no place in this book, but its last act was still being played out, during and after the evacuation of Dunkirk, and so provided an unwelcome distraction for the British government at that time.


At first light on 10 May, the Luftwaffe attacked Allied airfields, rail centres and other key points in France in an attempt to disrupt communications while the German Army had already started moving west. The British Official History dismisses the attacks, and it certainly did nothing to affect the British plans or moves. The main weight of the Luftwaffe fell on Holland that day, and much of their fighter force was flying top cover over the long columns of tanks, guns and infantry as they streamed forward to the attack, crossing the frontiers of Belgium, Holland and Luxembourg. The BEF’s move to its positions on the Dyle went without a hitch. There was a moment of farce, however, when a frontier guard demanded that the leading unit of Montgomery’s 3rd Division show him a permit to enter Belgium. The British charged the barrier with a 15-hundredweight truck, and the advance of the division proceeded. The leading mechanized cavalry reached the Dyle that night. The movements that day and the next, although carried out in daylight, were not interrupted by the Luftwaffe, which was busy destroying the Belgian Air Force, most of which was caught on the ground, and supporting the airborne invasion of Holland. Even so, the Germans managed to destroy six of the Blenheim light bombers of the RAF’s 114 Squadron at Condé Vraux and render unserviceable the remaining twelve, as well as setting fire to the fuel dump. There was another reason why the German Air Force did not want to hinder the move of the Allies into Belgium unduly: it suited their plan. Not even the wily Brooke seems to have suspected that the BEF and French Seventh Army were being led into a trap.


As the BEF motored through Belgium, the civilians turned out to cheer. Lieutenant Dunn led his troop of guns of the 7th Field Regiment, part of Montgomery’s 3rd Division, through Brussels at about 0800 hours. As the guns bumped and rattled over the cobbled streets, crowds threw flowers, fruit and sweets to the soldiers riding on the gun quads (motor towers). The soldiers waved and grinned. Dunn thought of Wellington’s army moving out of the same city on the way to Waterloo.


Eventually Dunn’s troop arrived at their designated harbour area in a small village in a valley. A harbour area for any kind of military unit, be it a battery of guns, squadron of tanks or battalion of infantry, is a place where sub-units or units gather while waiting to move forward or back. Replenishment, especially of armoured units, may take place in the harbour area. Sentries will be posted and other defensive measures taken, such as digging slit trenches and siting anti-aircraft guns. But a harbour area is not a position from which one aims to fight – so field artillery, for example, will not be sited for firing. The countryside was green, rolling and wooded, a pleasant change from the industrial region of France where the regiment had spent the winter. As they were camouflaging their guns and vehicles, a German reconnaissance aircraft flew low over the village. The Bren gunners and riflemen blazed away, their shining faces turned to the skies. A quarter of an hour later two aircraft appeared and each dropped a bomb on the village. As far as Dunn was concerned it was the best lesson they could have had. From that moment on, he never saw any of his men fire at an aircraft with a rifle or Bren gun, as both were ineffective except at low level. Thereafter they lay low and kept still, or took cover. Looking up at aircraft is a sure way to be spotted, something that not everybody in the BEF learned.


The BEF deployed with two corps up along seventeen miles of the Dyle. On the right Lieutenant General Barker’s I Corps had 1st and 2nd Divisions in the front line, and 48th Division held back; and on the left Brooke’s II Corps had the 3rd Division up, and the 4th Division in reserve. Two other divisions, 5th and 50th, were in general reserve (elements of these two had been sent to Norway before the German attack in the west). Two more divisions, 42nd and 44th, were deployed in depth some fifty miles back on the River Escaut under Adam’s III Corps. It was a good defensive layout with plenty of depth. Four more divisions of the BEF would be involved in the battles ahead: 12th, 23rd and 46th, which had been sent out for pioneering work (unskilled labour on the lines of communication) and to complete their training. They had no artillery and lacked much other vital equipment. Lastly, the 51st (Highland) Division had been detached in April to the Saar front to gain experience in the Maginot Line under French command, and never rejoined the BEF.


By 11 May, the only confrontation in the BEF’s sector involved the 3rd Division which, by agreement of the Allied command, had been ordered to defend Louvain. As the division approached the town at dawn on 11 May, Belgian infantry fired on its machine-gun battalion, 2nd Battalion the Middlesex Regiment. When Montgomery informed the commander of the 10th Belgian Division that Louvain was to be defended by the BEF, the Belgian general said that King Leopold had entrusted the defence of Louvain to him, and that he would never leave his post without orders from his King, despite the agreed deployment that allocated a sector north of Louvain to the Belgians. Gort’s reaction to this nonsense, instead of immediately taking the matter to Leopold, was to back down and tell Brooke to ‘double-bank’ the Belgian division. ‘Not a satisfactory solution,’ Brooke wrote in his diary.1 Brooke went to see Leopold the next day, addressing him in fluent French, but found him totally under the influence of his malignant ADC, Major General van Overstraeten, and was not able to persuade him to change the order. Overstraeten interposed himself twice between Brooke and Leopold, rudely interrupting him, so that eventually the King stepped to one side and looked out of the window.




I could not very well force my presence a third time on the King, and I therefore discussed the matter with this individual who I assumed must be the Chief of Staff. I found that arguing with him was a sheer waste of time, he was not familiar with the dispositions of the BEF and seemed to care little about them. Most of his suggestions were fantastic. I finally withdrew.2




Brooke found that Montgomery had solved the problem by putting himself unreservedly under the Belgian divisional commander’s orders, which thrilled that officer. When asked what he proposed to do when the Germans attacked, Montgomery replied that he would place the Belgian under arrest and take command. In the event Montgomery did not have to carry out his stated intention. As German pressure on Louvain built up, the commander of the Belgian 10th Division decided not to fight but to move out so that he could, in his own words, ‘rest his tired troops’. Montgomery was delighted to be shot of them.


That same day, Gort’s Chief of the General Staff, Lieutenant General Henry Pownall, also had an audience with King Leopold, who seemed dazed. Pownall found Overstraeten suave, glib and specious. There he also found Generals Georges and Billotte, whose main aim appeared to be to persuade the Belgians that Billotte should co-ordinate the operations of the BEF and the Belgian Army, as a representative of General Georges. Gort should have been told about this change of command relationship long before battle was joined. However, Pownall, speaking for Gort, agreed, as did King Leopold. Gamelin, having been unaware of what Georges had cooked up, told him that it was ‘an abdication’, but did nothing to correct his subordinate’s decision.


Gort loyally supported the new command arrangement, and the next day sent his vice chief of the general staff, Major General Eastwood, to Billotte to tell him that he was not only willing to accept him as co-ordinator, but would be glad to receive orders from him. Yet no radio link was established with Billotte, although the BEF had one with the French First and Seventh Armies, with Georges’s headquarters and with the British mission at Belgian GHQ near Antwerp. Comparing Appendix B with Appendix A may give the reader a clearer idea of the alteration in the chain of command. From now on Gort understood that he had to look to Billotte for orders, and could no longer expect to receive orders from Georges. In such a situation, the co-ordinator (in this case Billotte) must be able to translate the directives from above (Georges) into practical orders which those he is supposed to be co-ordinating (Gort) can carry out. Equally important, the commander whose actions are being co-ordinated (Gort) must have confidence in the co-ordinator’s judgement and be willing to act on his orders. The British Official History’s understated comment is: ‘In this instance the arrangements worked but haltingly, for neither of these conditions was ever wholly fulfilled.’3


It was a muddled command arrangement and also one that was not in accordance with the British government’s directive to Gort when he was appointed to command the BEF in September 1939. The change was the outcome of a unilateral decision made by General Georges without any discussion with the British government, and Gamelin’s reaction is evidence that it was sprung on him unexpectedly. The Allies had had eight months in which to sort out the command set-up before 11 May, and the situation they found themselves in after moving into Belgium was no different from that envisaged by the plan. That Gort’s status was now effectively lower down the chain of command could be lived with in the interests of Allied solidarity, but much more serious was the confusion and lack of co-ordination that ensued.


The French high command had assumed that the Belgians’ defence of their frontier and the delaying action of the British and French mechanized cavalry screen would suffice to prevent the Germans reaching the main defence line, the Dyle, before the Allies’ move forward was complete. As far as the French Ninth Army was concerned this assumption was at fault, because some units of this army were engaged before they were established on the Dyle Line.


General Blanchard’s French First Army, heading for the Gembloux Gap to the right of the BEF, was in an even unhappier position than the Ninth Army. As it advanced it met a flood of Belgian refugees heading for France from the Liège area, and the air was thick with rumours of treachery and of a fifth column.4 General Prioux’s Cavalry Corps (2nd and 3rd DLMs, each with 174 tanks), the first to arrive at Gembloux, was disconcerted to find how thinly the Belgians had fortified this area, an open plain and excellent tank country. Worse, news came in that Eben-Emael had fallen. This supposedly impregnable fortress, sited behind the twin obstacles of the River Meuse and the Albert Canal, south of Maastricht, was designed to cover by fire the Albert Canal bridges at Briedgen, Veldwezelt and Vroenhaven west of Maastricht. It was garrisoned by 700 men and was the lynchpin of the Belgian defences on the Dutch border east of Brussels and Antwerp. On 10 May, seventy-eight airborne engineers of the Luftwaffe Koch Assault Detachment landed on top of the fortifications in gliders and, using hollow charges, kept the garrison cowed, while German parachute and glider troops captured the bridges. The following day the German 223rd Infantry Division arrived and captured the remaining fortifications. The Koch Detachment lost six dead and twenty wounded. Not since the German capture of Douaumont at Verdun in February 1916 had a fort been taken with so little loss on the part of the attackers and such pathetically weak resistance by the defenders.


Prioux, in view of the feeble Belgian resistance, and assessing that his corps would not have time to establish good defensive positions before the Germans arrived in strength, suggested to his army commander, Blanchard, that they should now switch the defence to the Escaut, some forty-five miles further back. Blanchard agreed, and told Billotte, who was shocked and told him that revising the plan at this stage was out of the question. Prioux would have to hold on until 14 May, while First Army speeded up its move to support him.


Meanwhile in Holland the situation unravelled with lightning speed. A combination of airborne troops and the 9th Panzer Division prised open the Germans’ route to Rotterdam. On 11 May, Giraud’s French Seventh Army, heading, as planned by Gamelin, for a link-up with the Dutch at Breda, ran into 9th Panzer at Tilburg. Unnerved by this unexpected turn of events, Giraud fell back towards Antwerp, now being flayed from the air by the Luftwaffe. The link-up with the Dutch, upon which Gamelin had gambled his mobile reserve of seven divisions, including 1st DLM, had now evaporated.


At this stage the BEF did not suffer directly in the way that the French First, Seventh and Ninth Armies did. The main German effort was not directed at the BEF’s front, even though the Belgian Army was forced back more quickly than expected. Moreover in the British sector the Dyle position was fairly strong, although three divisions covering some 30,000 yards meant that the defences on the actual river line were quite thin, and in any case the so-called river is only a stream. Furthermore, the banks were wooded in places, which made infantry infiltration by the enemy easier. But the river and the railway, which for most of the sector followed the eastern bank, were together quite effective in slowing down armour, and some stretches of the Dyle valley were flooded, which offered more of an obstacle. A system of dykes in Belgium’s low-lying country held water drained from the land. Sluices, or gates, in the dykes could be opened to allow water into the rivers or, as a defensive measure, to flood the terrain. Near Louvain the Belgians had built some pillboxes. All things considered, attacking the BEF between Louvain and Wavre would be no walkover, especially against the well-sited British artillery.


The BEF had three days to prepare their positions on the Dyle, instead of six as planned. The few scattered pillboxes and wire entanglements left by the Belgians were a poor exchange for the numerous concrete defences, well protected by belts of wire and mines, that the British had prepared on the Franco-Belgian border during the winter. But at least there was something of an obstacle in front, which to an army trained to fight a static defensive battle, preferably behind an obstacle, rather than relying on manoeuvre and speed, was some comfort. The BEF also had plenty of support in the form of one heavy and eight medium regiments of artillery and eight machine-gun battalions shared between the three front divisions. In addition each division had its own three field regiments (each of two twelve-gun batteries of 4.5-inch howitzers, or 18- or 25-pounders) and an anti-tank regiment in direct support. The two battalions of the 1st Army Tank Brigade arrived by train and, after unloading off the flat cars on 14 May, rumbled into the Forest of Soignes, between Brussels and the field of the 1815 Battle of Waterloo. Both its battalions, the 4th and the 7th Royal Tank Regiment (RTR), were allocated to I Corps. Each was equipped with the heavy infantry tank. The 4th RTR had fifty of the old Mk I, weighing eleven tons but armed only with one machine gun. The 7th RTR had twenty-seven Mk Is, and twenty-three Mk IIs, the Matilda, weighing twenty-six and a half tons, and armed with a 2-pounder as well as a machine gun. Although slow, with a maximum road speed of 8mph for the Mk I, and 15mph for the Mk II, the British infantry tank was more heavily armoured than every other German or French tank of the period, except the French Char B1.
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